IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2007-TS-00132

RONALD RODRIGUEZ

VS.

ANNE RODRIGUEZ

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael P. Younger Mississippi Bar No. Younger Law Firm 1700 W. Government St. Bldg. B, Ste. 102 Brandon, MS 39042 Telephone: (601) 825-5412 Fax: (601) 825-3949 Attorney for Appellant

ţ

Oral Argument is Requested

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

2007-TS-00132

RONALD RODRIGUEZ

VS.

ANNE RODRIGUEZ

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE ONE

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A DIVORCE ON THE GROUNDS OF UNCONDONED ADULTERY. THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL WAS INSUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT UNCONDONED ADULTERY BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

CASE

Because this trial record is so short, as far as the grounds for divorce are concerned, the undersigned will not delineate each and every portion of the record that refers to the proof adduced at trial upon which the lower court judge granted a divorce.

This case originated with the wife of William Wright contacting Anne Rodriguez, the Appellee, who informed the Appellee that her husband was having an affair, specifically an affair with his former secretary.

As a result of this conversation, the Appellee contacted William Wright's office and began taping conversations with the Appellant as well as keeping a diary.

On an occasion two days prior to the conversation upon which the grounds for divorce were granted, the Appellee cursed, ranted, and raved at the Appellant and the Appellee, at the trial, admitted that this was very uncharacteristic of her temperament throughout their marriage.

Consequently, several days later she tape recorded a conversation which lasted approximately forty-five (45) minutes.

It is submitted by the undersigned that the tape which was played at trial was insufficient to support a finding of uncondoned adultery by clear and convincing evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Appellee tape recorded the Appellant several days after they had a confrontation wherein the Appellee has cursed, ranted and raved at the Appellant accusing him of an affair.

These conversations occurred after the wife of William Wright informed Mrs. Rodriguez that she knew or suspected that Mr. Rodriguez was having an affair with his former secretary.

It is important to note that at the trial of this cause, the Appellee admitted that there was no proof that Mr. Rodriguez had an affair with his former secretary and in fact, she had done enough investigation to find out that that allegation was entirely untrue.

However, because of the conversation between Mrs. Wright and Mrs. Rodriguez, Mrs. Rodriguez decided to tape record her husband's conversations after she had contact with William Wright.

In the tape recorded conversation, which was the basis for the finding of the lower court involving uncondoned adultery, Mrs. Rodriguez, for a long period of time kept accusing Mr. Rodriguez of having an affair which he steadfastly refused over and over again.

It was noted at the lower court trial that he had been asked the question about adultery at least sixty times before he came to a position in the conversation wherein he just admitted an affair with unknown women just to calm his wife down.

The lower court record would show that the tape recorded conversation involving these admissions were that he finally said, in order to calm his wife down, that he had an affair with two women in New Orleans years and years ago and he could not remember their names nor could he remember the locations wherein they had these "affairs".

In the trial, the Appellant testified that he never had an affair during the course of his marriage and that his admissions as to having an affair with these two unknown individuals were

ţ

simply to calm the wife down.

This Court, when listening to the conversation on tape, will see that the Appellant was under extreme pressure by his wife to admit something in order for him to be able to calm the situation down.

In this tape, the Appellant said that he had an affair with two different women years and years ago, but he couldn't remember their names and he couldn't remember the locations and this was consistent throughout the entire portion of the tape after these admissions were made.

Again, it is important to note that the Appellant, during the course of the trial, denied ever having an affair and stated that the only reason that he made the statements that he did on the tape was because it was the only way to get his wife to be quiet.

As the Court would note, she would have asked him approximately sixty (60) times before he made these "alleged" admissions, in order to establish something to be able to file a case for divorce.

It is submitted that the tape itself, as well as the testimony at the trial are totally inconsistent with the current Mississippi law and fall far short of proving uncondoned adultery by clear and convincing evidence.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The undersigned would show that the Chancellor erred in granting a divorce on the grounds of uncondoned adultery on the basis that the alleged admissions made on tape were not clear and convincing; therefore, no divorce should have been granted.

The Court should reverse this matter and render same due to the lack of evidence in this cause.

t L

ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A DIVORCE ON UNCONDONED ADULTERY AND ERRED IN GRANTING SAID DIVORCE ON UNCONDONED ADULTERY WITHOUT HAVING CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE OF SAME.

The lower court heard in open court testimony that the parties had been married thirtyseven years and the parties have two emancipated, grown children.

Without having to cite any case law at all, it is well recognized that adultery must be proven by clear and convincing evidence of an infatuation for a particular person of the opposite sex and a reasonable opportunity to satisfy that infatuation. <u>Arthur v. Arthur</u>, 691 So.2d 997 (Miss. 1997).

In the case at bar, the Appellee is relying on a forty-five minute audio tape to try to establish her grounds for divorce on the grounds of adultery.

In a close examination of the transcript of this tape and the tape itself, it is absolutely, positively certain that there was no proof of a particular person of the opposite sex, nor was there a clear and convincing bit of evidence of an infatuation for a particular person of the opposite sex and a reasonable opportunity to satisfy that infatuation.

The truth of the matter is that the Appellant, during the course of this taped, recorded conversation was dealing with his wife who had asked him at least sixty (60) times if he had an affair and who he had an affair with and he steadfastly denied having an affair.

The Appellant testified at trial that he finally said that he had had an affair years and years ago with two women in New Orleans, the names of whom he could not remember and the places of where they lived, worked, and where they had an opportunity to commit adultery were unknown to him. The Appellant testified at trial that the only reason that he made the admissions of having an affair with unknown persons was to calm his wife down.

As has been previously noted in this brief, this whole case got started when the wife of William Wright went to Mrs. Rodriguez and told her that he was having an affair with a particular person who had been a previous secretary of the Appellant.

This conversation led to a series of events wherein the Appellee hired Mr. Wright to represent her in a divorce and also led to the taping of Mr. Rodriguez's conversation which is the subject matter of the finding of the court.

The Appellant testified at trial that on the Thursday before the conversation was taped on the following Saturday, he came home and his wife confronted him with extreme foul language, accusing him of having an affair with two different women, namely Julie Mayer and Deanne Wright, being the wife of William Wright.

On the Thursday conversation before the Saturday taping, the Appellee accused the Appellant of being a "f----ing liar" and directly accused him of having an affair with these women.

The Appellant denied the accusations and as the argument got more heated, the testimony at trial was, "she was not going to take no for an answer."

During the course of the taping on the Saturday after the Thursday conversation, the Appellant stated that he told his wife he had sex years before with two women whose names he couldn't remember and dates he couldn't establish along with not remembering any locations or opportunities to commit adultery.

The Appellant's position all along was that he never had an affair and the only way that he could calm his wife down was to admit to something so that she would get off his back.

In the tape recorded conversation on the Saturday in the first minute and a half of the conversation which appears on pages 4 and 5 of the transcript, it is very apparent that the parties had previously discussed the other women.

Particularly, the following was on tape and on the transcript:

Anne:	"No, you don't. You would not have had sex with another woman."
Ronnie:	"Yeah."
Anne:	"If you still loved me back then you would not have done that."
Ronnie:	"There you go."
Anne:	"Bring it home to me."
Ronnie:	"There you go."
Anne:	"Having sex with me having it with a woman like that who is"
Ronnie:	"There you go."
Anne:	"So trashy."
Ronnie.	"There you go."
Anne:	"Well, I hope it was worth it."
Ronnie:	"There you go."
Anne:	"I hope"
Ronnie:	"There you go."
Anne:	"It was worth it."

Mrs. Rodriguez testified on the witness stand during the course of the trial that she knew now that Ronnie had not had an affair with either Deanne Wright or Julie Mayer and that she was trying to establish her grounds for divorce on two fictitious women who were thought up by Mr. Rodriguez just to get her off his back. When the tape is listened to closely, it is quite obvious that the Defendant was coerced and basically ambushed by his wife.

In counting the number of times during the tape that the wife demanded to know who he was having an affair with, it turned out to be one hundred seven times in a forty-five minute conversations.

In looking at the <u>Arthur</u> case, there is absolutely no showing of any evidence by a clear and convincing fashion, of an infatuation for a particular person of the opposite sex, nor is there any testimony concerning reasonable opportunity to satisfy that infatuation with a particular person of the opposite sex.

It is plain from the testimony of both parties and the calendar and diaries kept by Mrs. Rodriguez that a couple of days after the Saturday ambush, Mr. Rodriguez told his wife that the two women he talked about were fictitious and that he had only done that to calm her down and also to get her off his back because "she would not take no for an answer."

The Appellee relies on several cases to try to boast her position that uncondoned adultery was proven by clear and convincing evidence.

The Defendant and the lower court cited <u>Rushing v. Rushing</u>, 724 So.2d 911 (Miss. 1998), Jordan v. Jordan, 510 So.2d 131 (Miss. 1987).

These two cases involved testimony at trial wherein the parties admitted, under oath, to having had an adulterous affair. This is far from the case at bar wherein the Appellant denied, under oath, that he had an affair and stated that his reasons for admitting to having had a relationship with two unknown women years in the past was simply to get his wife off of his back.

The lower court also cited Davis v. Davis, 832 So. 2d 492 (Miss. 2004). This case held

that clear and convincing evidence were met wherein under direct examination the husband admitted adulterous conduct.

Again, the Appellant denied under oath at trial that he had an affair and had recanted the tape recorded conversations several days after the conversation with his wife that was recorded.

It is submitted that this is far from clear and convincing evidence. As a matter of fact, there is no evidence at all of uncondoned adultery.

The lower court cites <u>Brooks v. Brooks</u>, 652 So.2d 1113 (Miss. 1995) and also <u>Martin v.</u> <u>Martin</u>, 566 So.2d 704 (Miss. 1990). These cases were again cases where the offending party admitted under oath to having had an adulterous affair.

Again, as has been noted above, the Appellant has never admitted having an adulterous affair and in fact denied same at trial and at his deposition.

The lower court also cites <u>McClelland v. McClelland</u>, 879 So.2d 1096 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). In this case there were two allegations of the wife's affair plus the wife admitted one adulterous act.

Again, the Appellant has steadfastly denied from day one that he had an affair with anyone and the tape recorded conversation concerning two unknown women at unknown locations years and years ago is simply insufficient to support a granting of a divorce.

{ {

÷.,

CONCLUSION

In the case at bar, it is submitted that the lower court erred in finding clear and convincing evidence on the grounds of uncondoned adultery.

The Appellant, in a very heated tape recorded conversation, when repeatedly asked over one hundred time whether he had an affair, finally made a statement, just to get his wife to calm down, that he had had a relationship with two unknown women years ago in New Orleans. The Appellant could not remember their names, the places that they worked, nor could he recall any type of situation where they had an opportunity to culminate an infatuation. The case law is specific citing <u>Arthur</u> that you have to show by clear and convincing evidence that there was a relationship with a particular person and also a relationship of infatuation with that particular person, and an opportunity to act on that infatuation.

The Appellant, under oath, testified that he had never had an affair and that the tape recorded conversation was simply because "she would not take no for an answer."

The undersigned would submit that the evidence adduced in this cause was contrived and was not supported by sworn testimony in any shape, form or fashion; therefore, does not meet the burdens of <u>Arthur</u> and the other cases cited in the brief.

It is respectfully submitted that the issue of granting a divorce on the grounds of uncondoned adultery be reversed and rendered in favor of the Appellant.