#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RONALD RODRIGUEZ

APPELLANT / CROSS APPELLEE

VS.

No. 2007-CA-00132

ANNE RODRIGUEZ (ARMSTRONG)

APPELLEE / CROSS APPELLANT

## COMBINED BRIEF OF APPELLEE AND CROSS-APPELLANT ANNE RODRIGUEZ (ARMSTRONG)

## APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF RANKIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE AND CROSS-APPELLANT,

**ANNE RODRIGUEZ (ARMSTRONG)** 

WILLIAM R. WRIGHT (MS Bar W. BENTON GREGG (MS Bar TRESA B. BARKSDALE (MS Bar

WRIGHT LAW FIRM, P.A. 1675 Lakeland Drive, Suite 400 Post Office Box 5003

Jackson, Mississippi 39296-5003 Telephone: (601) 366-8090 Facsimile: (601) 366-3080

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

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

#### II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Issue 1 – Grounds. Ronnie confessed adultery in a conversation that Anne recorded. Anne can be heard on tape asking: "Ronnie, are you telling me you had sex

with two strangers?" To that, Ronnie said: "Yeah." Under oath at trial, Ronnie recanted his recorded admissions and denied the allegation. Ronnie tried to convince the chancellor that he had been faithful, and said what he did on tape only as an act of mercy. He wanted to calm his wife, he claimed. The judge was not convinced. Instead, the judge listened to the evidence and understandably pondered: Why would a man employ such a method to calm his wife? The chancellor called on his many years of experience on the bench, and drew from his own common sense to write: "an admission of two sexual encounters with two different women at two separate times would not bode well in calming a wife." R.E. 27. The lower court concluded: "There is no logical or believable reason for [Ronnie] to admit such hurtful misconduct unless it was true." R.E. 28. The chancellor applied the correct legal standard and properly granted Anne a divorce on the ground of uncondoned adultery.

Issue 2 – Division of Assets. At the start of the December 12, 2006, hearing, the chancellor learned that "there will be a 50/50 division of the marital assets and that will necessarily keep [Anne] from having to go through a lengthy Ferguson analysis." T2. 4. A written stipulation was accepted into evidence. Trial Exhibit P-1, R.E. 108.

Thus, the chancellor assented to an equal split. As a result, Anne did not put on evidence or testify to the factors within a *Ferguson* analysis. She forewent her right to provide proof on the issue of equitable division because the issue had been decided – she and Ronnie stipulated to a 50/50 division of all marital assets.

However, the chancellor completely frustrated the stipulation by later adopting wholesale Ronnie's proposed "Opinion and Order", and in so doing, adopting Ronnie's unequal division. Ronnie received far more of the marital assets.

Judge Zebert had a responsibility to ensure the division was an equal one, in line with the parties' stipulation. He did not. Alternatively, of course, the chancellor had

authority to deviate, but only upon a reasoned announcement of such deviation, and a thorough application of *Ferguson*. He did not do that, either. His failures are clear error. The issue of property division should be reversed and remanded to ensure a 50/50 division, or allow the chancellor to consider additional evidence in light of *Ferguson* and to make proper findings of fact and conclusions of law.

Issue 3 – Alimony. The court below erred, not in its award of alimony, but in the amount awarded. The amount awarded does not meet Anne's reasonable expenses.

The purpose of alimony is to provide for one spouse's reasonable expenses, in an amount affordable to the higher income-earning spouse. The evidence at trial showed Anne's reasonable expenses could not be met by the amount of support awarded. Further, the evidence showed that Ronnie is capable of providing Anne with more support.

Importantly, the chancellor failed to make *Armstrong* findings of fact and conclusions of law. Instead, the chancellor adopted verbatim one litigant's proposed conclusions. The chancellor's failure to make *Armstrong* findings is itself manifest error, requiring reversal and remand. This is especially true, given the heightened scrutiny an appellate court applies when a chancellor adopts verbatim the findings of fact prepared by one litigant's attorney.

Finally, where a property division is reversed, an award of alimony must also be reversed.

Issue 4 – Attorneys Fees. The chancellor denied Anne's request for attorney fees without making required findings of fact. Instead, the chancellor adopted word-for-word the proposed conclusions, without findings, of the opposing party's attorney.

Additionally, as an award of attorney fees is a financial award available at divorce, the issue of attorney fees should be reversed, and the remanded issue considered together with other financial awards of property division and alimony.

Though Judge Zebert failed to make attorney fee findings, the record shows Anne demonstrated an inability to pay her fees and a significant disparity in the parties' financial positions.

For these reasons, the issue of attorney fees should be reversed and remanded for proper consideration by the trial court.

#### III. ARGUMENT

1. The court below applied the correct legal standard and properly granted

Anne Armstrong a divorce on the ground of uncondoned adultery.

Adultery may be proved by clear and convincing evidence of: (1) an infatuation for a particular person of the opposite sex; and (2) a reasonable opportunity to satisfy that infatuation. *Arthur v. Arthur*, 691 So. 2d 997, 1000-01 (Miss. 1997).

Adultery may be established by a defendant's admissions. *Rushing v. Rushing*, 724 So. 2d 911, 914 (Miss. 1998). No corroboration is needed if the defendant admits adultery. *Sproles v. Sproles*, 782 So. 2d 742, 746 (Miss. 2001). Taped recordings of conversations may be admissible to prove adultery. *Ferguson*, 639 So. 2d at 931.

Anne offered as evidence a tape recorded confession of Ronnie's adultery. Trial Exhibit P-3, *Cassette Tape "Confession"*. The tape was played at the hearing. T1. 14.

Ronnie said on tape, when his affairs were mentioned: "I'm sorry, more than you'll ever realize." Trial Exhibit P-3, cassette at counter 165-66. Anne then posed this question: "Why did you have an affair?" In response, Ronnie said: "I don't know. . . . I regret it deeply." Trial Exhibit P-3, cassette at counter 167-69. The tacit admissions don't stop there. Anne followed up her question with another: "Was it more than one?" Ronnie answered: "I've done some bad things. Please forgive me. I did a stupid thing." Unsatisfied, Anne reworded: "How many women did you have sex with, Ronnie?" He quietly admitted: "A couple." This admission is found on Trial Exhibit P-3, cassette at

counter 194-195.

Understandably upset, Anne wanted names. To those questions, Ronnie declared: "I don't even remember their names." Trial Exhibit P-3, cassette at counter 197-199. With this statement, Ronnie admitted adultery, though he could not (our would not) reveal the individuals with whom he had been unfaithful. Anne obviously did not believe Ronnie had forgotten the women's names. At least, that is the inference Ronnie drew, because he can be heard saying: "I swear! Get the Bible, go get the Bible! I don't even remember their names. That's how much they meant to me. I'll swear to that. Go get the Bible." This emotional plea followed: "forgive me . . . I want you to forgive me." These statements, each an overt admission of adultery, are part of a sequence found in Trial Exhibit P-3, cassette at counter 200-240.

When Anne pressed for names, Ronnie reiterated that he didn't remember. "I don't know the names. I swear. Get the Bible." Trial Exhibit P-3, cassette at counter 240-242. Ronnie was able to place the two admitted affairs, at least geographically. He told Anne that one was in New Orleans and the other was in Jackson.

Unconvinced with Ronnie's inability to remember his lovers' names, Anne asked: "Ronnie, are you telling me you had sex with two strangers?" To that, Ronnie answered "Yeah." This admission is contained in Trial Exhibit P-3, cassette at counter 255-256.

Again, the tape reflects Ronnie's remorse. He states, at cassette counter 260-265, "please forgive me. I'm sorry." Ronnie repeatedly pleaded for his wife's faith, and insisted on taking an oath. Ronnie can be heard specifically and repeatedly saying "I'll swear to it, go get the Bible". (For instance, see Trial Exhibit P-2, cassette at counter 271). An objective listener is sure that Ronnie considered what he was saying to be gospel truth.

Still using his oath, Ronnie said: "I swear that since we moved to Jackson, I've not

had sex with anybody. I swear to the Good Lord, the unborn child, my children, my dad's grave." When Anne interrupted with a suggestion "once in New Orleans and once [inaudible]?", Ronnie acknowledged the truthfulness of his adultery by saying "yes". This exchange is found in Trial Exhibit P-3, cassette at counter 274-279.

Anne again asked Ronnie, "who are they?" Ronnie was consistent: "I don't even remember." She asked "how long did you know them?" Ronnie said: "not long . . . I don't know. That's how much they meant to me. . . . I don't know their names." These statements and admissions are found in Trial Exhibit P-3, cassette at counter 280-281.

Predictably, Ronnie repeated: "Get the Bible . . . I'll swear to you again. Get the Bible. I don't know their names." These statements are found in Trial Exhibit P-3, cassette at counter 285-300. Ronnie, with each assertion of an inability to remember names, tacitly admitted to the affairs. He confirms instances of adultery while concealing paramours' identities.

Ronnie's most specific admission of sex outside of marriage came at Trial Exhibit P-3, cassette at counter 318-322. "I have not had sex, I have not had sex, and I swear on my mother's grave, my grand babies, my grandchildren, my life, I have not had sex with a woman since I've been in Jackson, Mississippi, only those other two."

Ronnie said to Anne about his admitted affairs: "at least I was man enough to tell you." Also, he told Anne by way of seeking *her* forgiveness, "Jesus forgave an adulterer when he was on the cross." R.E. 105.

At trial, these recorded confessions of adultery were recanted. At trial, Ronnie repeatedly asserted his fidelity, and denied the allegation of adultery. T1. 36-39, 45.

Anticipating the obvious question, Ronnie tried to explain how he could say one thing to his wife, then say the opposite under oath: "I thought she was going to crack. So . . . I knew if I admitted to [adultery]...it would diffuse[] the conversation." T1. 37, 39.

According to Ronnie, he calmed his wife by admitting to sex with other women. He reworded his amazing explanation: "I fabricated this thing . . . to please her". T1. 45.

Left unexplained is how he could fabricate such a tale, including geographical locales, but be unable to cobble together a couple of made-up names. Indeed, it was unexplainable. The chancellor simply did not believe Ronnie. "There is no logical or believable reason for him to admit such hurtful misconduct unless it was true." R.E. 28.

The chancellor considered the evidence, used the appropriate standard and correctly concluded that Ronnie was guilty of adultery. R.E. 28. The chancellor, in his *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law*, went to considerable lengths to articulate the standard and focus on the evidence. R.E. 23-25, 26-28.

The lower court heard Ronnie admit to adultery. The tape recording, admitted into evidence, contained these words, at tape counter 318-322: "I have not had sex, and I swear on my mother's grave, my grand babies, my grandchildren, my life. I have not had sex with a woman since I've been in Jackson, Mississippi, only those two." R.E. 23, at subparagraph 5. Therefore no corroboration is needed. *Rushing*, 724 So. 2d at 917.

That admission is properly part of the record, and like the "open court" admission of *Rushing*, it supports the lower court's conclusion that adultery was proved. That the tape recording is in direct conflict with Ronnie's trial testimony should not matter now. The trial court is uniquely in a position to weigh such a departure of stories and draw his conclusions. *Culbreath v. Johnson*, 427 So. 2d 705, 708 (Miss. 1983) (deference afforded trial judge who "saw . . . witnesses testify. . . . [had] the benefit of their words . . . observed their manner and demeanor. He was there on the scene. He smelled the smoke of battle.") That is undoubtedly what Judge Zebert did, and he rightly reached the conclusion that "the plaintiff has supported her grounds of adultery". R.E. 28.

This Court should affirm the chancellor on this issue.

### 2. The court below erred in its division of the marital assets.

The chancellor's division in the *Opinion and Order* was not equal. Nowhere in this appeal is the lack of RULE 60 relief more harmful to Anne than here.

The hearing on December 12, 2006, began with the chancellor asking: "Are you going to do some stipulations . . .? What about the stipulations up front and general?"

T2. 4. Counsel for Anne responded, "The stipulation is that there will be a 50/50 division of the marital assets and that will necessarily keep [Anne] from having to go through a lengthy Ferguson analysis." T2. 4. Ronnie's counsel agreed, "I'll stipulate." T2. 4. The parties offered Trial Exhibit P-1, "Stipulation". R.E. 108. Therefore, a Ferguson analysis was not needed. Anne forewent any offer of Ferguson evidence, reasonably relying on the efficacy of her stipulation. She understood that only a math equation remained. But, the chancellor did not do the math. The Opinion and Order eviscerated the stipulation without separately performing a Ferguson analysis.

The trial court had a responsibility to ensure an equal division. By adopting Ronnie's division without any edit at all, the court failed to affect the parties' agreement.

If adoption of Ronnie's proposal was the hurried and unintentional act of a judge in the week of his retirement, then that mistake should be corrected. Again, RULE 60 was unjustly out of Anne's reach. On the other hand, if the chancellor was thoughtfully deliberate in disparately dividing the assets, he should have announced his disregard of the 50/50 stipulation and proceeded to analyze *Ferguson*. He did not. Such an omission cannot withstand this Court's heightened scrutiny demanded by *Brooks*, 652 So. 2d at 1119 (verbatim adoption of findings of fact prepared by one litigant's attorney analyzed "with greater care" and subjected to "heightened scrutiny").

The parties agreed, and this Court ordered, that the equity in the marital home would be divided equally upon its sale. R.E. 34. Therefore, that component of the

marital estate was to essentially be a "wash". The parties generally agreed that the parties' personalty items were equally valued. Therefore, that component should have also been a "wash". However, the *Opinion and Order* deviated, and awarded Ronnie additional items, without commensurate awards to Anne:

- a. the net value of Tippo Timber Hunting Camp (\$60,000);
- b. the house trailer (\$6,000);
- c. the boat and trailer (\$8,000); and
- d. the difference in value of cars (\$1,800 in Ronnie's favor).

R.E. 34-39. The *Opinion and Order* awarded to Ronnie these items, collectively valued at \$75,800. There was no dispute over to whom these assets were to be awarded. Yet the court, despite the 50/50 stipulation, failed to calculate these values and give Anne equivalent value elsewhere in the division.

Then, the Opinion and Order widened the disparity by dividing money like this:

Asset	<u>Net value</u>	<u>Anne</u>	<u>Ronald</u>
AmSouth Savings (AR)	\$ 1,000	\$ 1,000	
AmSouth checking (AR)	\$ 21,268	\$ 21,268	
R'mond James IRA (AR)	\$ 22,773	\$ 22,773	
Cash in Anne's possession	\$ 12,700	\$ 12,700	
R'mond James Pension (R (#2024256)	R) \$281,700	\$140,850	\$140,850
R'mond James IRA (RR) (#70507369)	\$ 52,300		\$ 52,300
B'Plus Checking #4427	\$ 4,456		\$ 4,456
AG First Farm Credit	\$ 13,500		\$ 13,500
totals	\$409,697	<i>\$198,551</i>	\$211,106

Opinion and Order, at Exhibit 4. R.E. 53.

This division heightened Anne's disadvantage. The money division was hardly "equal" in and of itself. Then, matters were further skewed in Ronnie's favor with the court's footnote below its "Exhibit 4". R.E. 53. The court's justification for *not* dividing the ...7369 Raymond James IRA was a necessary "offset" against funds Anne "withdrew". R.E. 53. That is simply not supported in the facts. That is bad math. That justification is a self-serving, fact-twisting statement penned by a litigant's counsel. The testimony does not indicate such a need. Moreover, the \$22,000 was not missing. It was allocated to Anne – and it still existed at trial. T2. 50. To allocate the asset to Anne, then "credit" it to Ronnie as an offset is double dipping at its worst.

Even if this Court were to somehow find reason to account for money Anne "liquidated", R.E. 53, which is an allegation unsupported in testimony, and one which Anne disputed, T2. 13-14, the *Opinion and Order* punishes Anne. Regarding the money Anne "took", as Ronnie alleged, Anne's IRA (\$22,773) was still accounted for on the list allocated to her in the *Opinion and Order*.

Anne did use the roof money (\$8,400), as mentioned by the lower court, but she needed those funds for support during the pendency of this action – a duration of over ten months. T2.12. She did not take \$52,000, as suggested in Ronnie's submissions, and swallowed blindly by the chancellor. Indeed, the money was still largely intact at the time of trial, T2. 13, 51, and reflected in the list of assets as "cash in Anne's possession" (\$12,700), AmSouth Checking (\$21,268), and AmSouth savings (\$1,000). R.E. 111.

Again, the lower court allocated the money to Anne, as reflected in the list, then give Ronnie a credit, as if the money no longer existed. Anne directly refuted such a notion, saying: "No. I have not touched [the IRA] . . . Its still with Raymond James." T2. 13-14; Trial Exhibit P-6; R.E. 109-110. This was ignored by the lower court.

The chancellor's division wrongly but obviously presupposed that Ronnie had

expended absolutely no marital funds during the pendency of the divorce case, as there was no notation (nor credit to Anne) for what funds Ronnie "took" to support himself.

The lower court could have avoided the inequality, and followed the parties' equal stipulation. There existed enough funds to equalize the division. With a division of the Raymond James Pension (No. ...4256), the court could have – should have – awarded Anne a commensurate amount equal to one half of the values of the hunting camp, house trailer, boat and the difference in value of the car. That was not done, though it should have been, in order to comport with the parties' stipulation. This idea was mentioned by Anne's counsel with no apparent impression on the judge during trial. T2. 85-86.

The lower court made the further mistake or oversight of awarding Ronnie a list of personalty which included several valuable assets, such as the 4-wheeler and three rugs, without remuneration to Anne. See "Additional Things For Ron", attachment to Exhibit 2, incorporated into *Opinion and Order*; R.E. 49. The values of these items were not accounted for. The lower court's adoption of Ronnie's proposed "Opinion and Order" resulted in Ronnie getting personalty – merely spitefully demanded – not in keeping with the stipulation. The lower court should have never awarded to Ronnie some of the items which were uniquely personal to Anne. T2. 29, 31. For instance: "two wooden shadow frames for Christening outfits", "framed stain glass antique", "ceramic roosters", and a "wedding portrait". R.E. 49. These items, among others, were Anne's, and Ronnie requested them purely from a mean spirit. In any event, these items have value, which were wholly ignored by the lower court. According to Anne, she "was trying to be fair. The things that he had from his family, I think he should keep. I just tried to be fair when I – there were some things that my children have given me, just gifts to me that I thought that I should keep." T2. 31; Trial Exhibits P-8, P-9 and P-10; R.E. 158-168.

Again, the lack of RULE 60 relief was a disaster for Anne. This Court should

remand this issue for equity to be achieved. The lower court simply did not do its math to ensure the *Opinion and Order* affected the parties' stipulation.

If it *did* do the math, and intended the unequal result achieved, then the lower should have announced its departure, explained that departure and proceeded to "equitably" divide the marital estate, supporting each finding pursuant to the factors of *Ferguson* and its progeny. A failure at this point is clear error, requiring reversal. *Fisher* v. *Fisher*, 771 So. 2d 364, 369 (Miss. 2000) (failure of lower court to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law results in "no choice but to remand . . . so that the trial court may complete its task."). This Court's scrutiny should be particularly heightened where, as here, a chancellor has adopted verbatim findings of fact prepared by one litigant's attorney. *Brooks*, 652 So. 2d at 1119.

The chancellor did not affect the parties' stipulation; the division was simply not equal. While the lower court has authority to disparately allocate the marital estate, he must do so equitably, following the tenets of *Ferguson*. That was not done. Such failure is manifest error, demanding reversal and remand. *Kilpatrick*, 732 So. 2d at 881.

In the alternative, this Court should remand this matter with a directive for Judge Fairly to reconsider Anne's RULE 60 motion.

3. The court erred, not in the award of spousal support, but in the amount.

Though Judge Zebert properly found alimony appropriate, the amount awarded – \$300 per month – does not meet Anne's needs. The award of alimony should be reversed and remanded for proper consideration under *Armstrong*. This is especially evident, given the chancellor's verbatim adoption of Ronnie's proposed "Opinion and Order".

The purpose of periodic alimony is to provide for the reasonable expenses of a lower income-earning spouse, in an amount affordable to a higher income-earning spouse, if these reasonable expenses cannot be met by the equitable division of property.

"If the situation is such that an equitable division of marital property, considered with each party's non-marital assets, leaves a deficit for one party, then alimony based on the value of the non-marital assets should be considered." *Lauro v. Lauro*, 847 So. 2d 843, 848 (Miss. 2003) (reversing and remanding alimony award to be considered together with equitable distribution and other financial awards). Further, "a wife is generally entitled to periodic alimony when her income is inadequate to allow her to maintain her standard of living and when her husband is able to pay." *Heigle v. Heigle*, 654 So. 2d 895, 898 (Miss. 1995).

Once the chancellor has perceived a deficit, *Armstrong v. Armstrong*, 618 So. 2d 1278 (Miss. 1993) controls an alimony analysis. In determining an award of alimony, the trial court must consider the following factors:

- 1. The income and expenses of the parties;
- 2. The health and earning capacities of the parties;
- 3. The needs of each party;
- 4. The obligations and assets of each party;
- 5. The length of the marriage;
- The presence or absence of minor children in the home, which may require that one or both of the parties either pay, or personally provide, child care;
- 7. The age of the parties;
- 8. The standard of living of the parties, both during the marriage and at the time of the support determination;
- 9. The tax consequences of the spousal support order;
- 10. Fault or misconduct;
- 11. Wasteful dissipation of assets by either party;

12. Any other factor deemed by the court to be "just and equitable" in connection with the setting of spousal support.

\*Armstrong\*, 618 So. 2d at 1280.

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